#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HRS DISTRICT II AND ALEXSIS RISK MANAGEMENT,

CASE NO.: 96,801

Petitioners

vs.

ANN L. PICKARD,

Respondent

## ON PETITION TO REVIEW A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

\_\_\_\_\_/

## INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS, HRS DISTRICT II and ALEXSIS RISK MANAGEMENT

David A. McCranie McCRANIE & LOWER, P.A. One San Jose Place, Suite 32 Jacksonville, Florida 32257 (904) 880-1909 Fla. Bar No. 351520

Attorney for Petitioners

###

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Ann L. Pickard, the claimant in this workers' compensation case, is a 57-year-old woman (D.O.B.: 8/9/42) (R: 54) who was injured in an accident arising out of and in the course of her employment with the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services ("HRS") on 9/23/86 (R: 33). At the time of her accident, her average weekly wage was \$316.47, including the value of her employer-provided health insurance (R: 137).<sup>1</sup> She continued working for HRS following her accident, albeit part-time (R: 64), until 7/28/89 (R: 67).<sup>2</sup> At that point, both she and her doctors believed that she could no longer continue working (R: 67), and she therefore resigned her employment.

She thereupon applied for in-line-of-duty disability benefits pursuant to §121.091(4) Fla. Stat. (1985), and began receiving those benefits in August 1989. (R: 46). She also applied for social security disability benefits pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §423 and began receiving those benefits in January 1990 (R: 7). In

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Petitioners initially disputed the amount of Pickard's average weekly wage, but did not challenge the JCC's determination in that regard in the district court, and do not do so here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Pickard initially testified that she continued to work until 7/23/90 or 7/28/90.(R:69). She later testified, however, that she was unsure whether she had retired in 1989 or 1990 (R: 70-71). Other records indicate that it was in fact 7/28/89 when she actually retired (R: 46), and the JCC so found (R: 116).

addition, she received annual cost-of-living adjustments to each of those benefits. Her in-line-of-duty disability cost-of-living adjustments were made in July each year<sup>3</sup>, while her social security cost-of-living adjustments came in January each year. (Petitioners' supplement to the record on appeal, p. 1).

Other than medical benefits, the employer provided no workers' compensation benefits to Pickard following her resignation from employment in July 1989 (R: 116) because it contended that she had reached maximum medical improvement from her accident on 7/30/87 with a 0% impairment rating from Dr. Rohan (R: 34). Nine years later, on or about 10/17/96, Pickard filed a "Petition/Claim for Benefits" seeking, among other things, an award of "PTD [permanent total disability] from 7/30/89 to present plus supplementals." (R: 29). Prior to the actual filing of that petition, however, on 9/13/96 the employer had administratively accepted Pickard as permanently totally disabled (R: 40) and agreed that the onset date of her disability was 7/30/89 (R: 2, 42).

There was disagreement, however, over the precise amount of workers' compensation benefits owed to Pickard in view of her concurrent receipt of in-line-of-duty and social security disability benefits since August 1989. Relying upon §440.20(15),

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See §121.101, Fla.Stat.

Fla.Stat. (1985), and this Court's decision in Escambia County Sheriff's Department v. Grice, 692 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997), the employer argued that Pickard's combined benefits, including her permanent total supplemental benefits<sup>4</sup> and cost-of-living adjustments, should be limited to 100% of her average weekly wage for all applicable periods. Pickard, on the other hand, contended that her workers' compensation benefits should not be affected at all by her receipt of the other disability benefits, at least for the past benefits due. The matter was initially heard by the judge of compensation claims ("JCC") on 7/3/97 (R: 1).

On 12/3/97, the JCC entered a preliminary order (R: 115-121) in which he found "nothing to distinguish this case from the facts of <u>Grice</u>." (R: 118). He therefore concluded that Pickard's permanent total supplemental benefits <u>are</u> subject to the 100% cap on employer-provided benefits imposed by §440.20(15):

> The First District Court of Appeals [sic] in <u>City of North Bay Village v. Cook</u>, 617 So.2d 753 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1993), held <u>unequivocally</u> the permanent total supplement should be <u>included</u> in the calculation of a monthly wage cap for offset purposes. Accordingly, I find the permanent total supplement in this case is included in the <u>Grice</u> cap (R: 119-120). (Emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> §440.15(1)(e), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1986)

The 12/3/97 order from the JCC was not a final order, however, in that it did not purport to award any benefits. Rather, the decretal portion of the order was withheld pending an agreement of the parties as to the exact figures applicable. (R: 120).

On 1/21/98, Pickard filed a Motion for Clarification (R: 133-134) and a Motion for Oral Argument (R: 130-131). A hearing on the Motion for Clarification was held on 3/9/98 (R: 5-23), and on 3/10/98 the JCC issued the order on appeal (R: 136-143)(Appendix "2"). In that order, notwithstanding his continued observation that the facts in the case at bar are <u>indistinguishable</u> from those in <u>Grice</u> (R: 140), the JCC abandoned his previous position regarding inclusion of permanent total supplemental benefits within the cap imposed by §440.20(15), ruling instead:

> If the State retirement plan resembles the City retirement plan as discussed in the case of <u>City of North Bay Village v. Cook</u>, 617 So.2d 753 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1993), the State Retirement Bureau may be entitled to an offset.

> I conclude cost of living increases in the social security disability benefit, the Florida State Retirement Benefit, and the permanent total supplemental benefits are outside the scope of <u>Grice</u>. (R: 139-140).

He therefore determined that, based on the average weekly wage of \$316.47 per week (R: 137), Pickard's permanent total disability benefits should be limited to \$64.15 per week (R. 140). This

amount was determined by taking the AWW of \$316.47 per week and subtracting from it both her <u>initial</u> social security disability benefit of \$128.95 per week and her <u>initial</u> in-line-of-duty disability benefit of \$123.37 per week. (R: 140). In addition to the \$64.15 per week in permanent total benefits, however, the JCC required the employer to pay the full amount of Pickard's permanent total supplemental benefits for each applicable period (R: 141). The net effect of the JCC's order was to apply the 100% cap of \$440.20(15) to the permanent total disability benefits owed since August 1, 1989. Excepted from that cap, however, were <u>all</u> of Pickard's permanent total supplemental benefits, as well as all cost-of-living adjustments to her in-line-of-duty and social security disability benefits.

A timely notice of appeal was filed by the employer on 3/16/98 (R: 145-146). Pickard cross-appealed the JCC's application of the §440.20(15) cap to <u>any</u> workers' compensation benefits owed since 8/1/89.

While this cause was pending before the district court, the court issued its decisions in <u>Acker v. City of Clearwater</u>, 23 Fla.L.Weekly D1970 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA Aug. 17, 1998), <u>rev. granted</u>, 727 So.2d 903 (Fla. 1999); <u>Hahn v. City of Clearwater</u>, 23 Fla.L.Weekly D2120 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA Sept. 9, 1998), <u>rev. granted</u>, 727 So.2d 903

(Fla. 1999); Rowe v. City of Clearwater, 23 Fla.L.Weekly D2120 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA Sept. 9, 1998), rev. granted, 727 So.2d 903 (Fla. 1999); State, Department of Labor & Employment Security v. Bowman, 23 Fla.L.Weekly D2124(Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA Sept. 11, 1998), rev. granted, 727 So.2d 904 (Fla. 1999); and Alderman v. Florida Plastering, 23 Fla.L.Weekly D2578 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA Nov. 19, 1998), rev. granted, 732 So.2d 326 (Fla. 1999).

Based upon those decisions, on 7/19/99 (Appendix "3") the district court reversed the JCC's order to the extent that it failed to include within the cap those permanent total supplemental benefits being paid at the time of the "initial calculation" of the "offset:"

When calculating the offset, a claimant's initial compensation rate and PTD supplemental benefits should be considered. Because the JCC's offset calculation fails to include the amount of PTD supplemental benefits to which claimant was first entitled in 1989 . . . we reverse the order only to such extent and remand with directions to recalculate the offset by including the 1989 supplemental benefit in the calculation.

24 Fla.L.Weekly at D1750.

The district court affirmed, however, the JCC's exclusion of all other cost-of-living adjustments from the §440.20(15) cap. 24 Fla.L.Weekly at D1749-1750. The district court also certified as

a question of great public importance the same question which it certified in <u>Acker</u>. 24 Fla.L.Weekly at D1750.

With respect to the cross-appeal, the district court reversed the order on appeal "to the extent that it allows the 100% AWW cap and resultant offset arising under §440.20(15) and <u>Grice</u> to be applied to benefits owed since August 1, 1989." 24 Fla.L.Weekly at D1750. "Because the effect of this new application is to reduce claimant's benefits," reasoned the district court, "we decline to apply it retroactively to August 1, 1989." 24 Fla.L.Weekly at D1750.

On 8/3/99, Petitioners filed in the district court a motion for rehearing or clarification and a motion for rehearing en banc with respect to the issue on cross-appeal. The motions for rehearing and rehearing en banc were denied by the district court on 10/15/99, although the court did write to clarify its original opinion, holding that "the offset is applicable to benefits paid on and after May 1, 1997, the date the <u>Grice</u> decision was released by the Florida Supreme Court." 24 Fla.L.Weekly at D2368. (Appendix "4")

On 10/21/99, Petitioners filed a timely notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court pursuant to Art. V, §3(b)(4), Fla. Const. Petitioners also filed simultaneously with

the district court a motion to stay the issuance of its mandate pending review of this cause in this Court. That motion was granted by the district court by order dated 11/4/99. On 10/26/99, this Court issued an order postponing its decision on jurisdiction, but ordering the filing of briefs on the merits.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The result reached by the First District Court of Appeal in its decision below allows Pickard to receive employer-provided disability benefits which exceed the wages she earned while she was working. Not only is such a result contrary to the longstanding policy in this state of encouraging injured workers to return to gainful employment following on-the-job accidents, it flies in the face of §440.20(15), Fla. Stat., and this Court's construction of that statute in <u>Brown v. S.S. Kresge Company</u>, 305 So.2d 191, (Fla.1974); <u>Barragan v. City of Miami</u>, 545 So.2d 252 (Fla. 1989); and, more recently, <u>Escambia County Sheriff's Department v. Grice</u>, 692 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1997).

Moreover, by refusing to apply the §440.20(15) cap to workers' compensation benefits payable before May 1, 1997 (the date of this Court's <u>Grice</u> decision), the district court has misinterpreted this Court's decisions concerning the retrospective application of judicial decisions and has improperly interpreted §440.15(13), Fla. Stat.(Supp. 1994).

#### ARGUMENT

Ι. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO INCLUDE ANY OF THE COST-OF-LIVING ADJUSTMENTS TO PICKARD'S SOCIAL SECURITY IN-LINE-OF-DUTY OR DISABILITY 100% CAP BENEFITS WITHOUT THE MANDATED BY §440.20(15), Fla. Stat. (1985).

This Court has recently answered the question whether annual increases in permanent total supplement benefits are subject to the §440.20(15) cap on benefits. <u>City of Clearwater v. Acker</u>, 24 Fla.L.Weekly S567(Fla. Dec. 9, 1999). Still unanswered, however, are the questions whether cost-of-living adjustments to social security disability or in-line-of-duty disability benefits are subject to the cap. Petitioners respectfully submit that they are, notwithstanding this Court's holding in <u>Acker</u>.

#### A. JURISDICTION

In its July 19, 1999 opinion, the district court certified as a question of great public importance "the same question certified in <u>Acker</u>" 24 Fla.L.Weekly at D1750. That certified question involved only the employer's right to "recalculate" its "offset" to take into account annual increases in permanent total supplement benefits paid pursuant to §440.15(1)(e), Fla. Stat. The district court did not specifically certify, however, whether cost-of-living adjustments to other collateral disability benefits, to wit, social security disability and in-line-of-duty disability, are subject to the cap. Nevertheless, this issue was adjudicated by the district court:

> This court has repeatedly held that offsets should not be recalculated based on annual increases in PTD supplemental benefits <u>and</u> <u>cost-of-living adjustments</u>. (Emphasis added).

24 Fla.L.Weekly at D1750.

It is clear that once this Court has jurisdiction it may, at its discretion, consider any issue affecting the case. <u>Cantor v.</u> <u>Davis</u>, 489 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1986); <u>Jacobson v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 1282 (Fla. 1985); <u>Savoie v. State</u>, 422 So.2d 308 (Fla. 1982). Accordingly, this Court should exercise its jurisdiction and reverse the district court on these points notwithstanding its <u>Acker</u> decision.

#### B. <u>IN-LINE-OF-DUTY DISABILITY COST-OF-LIVING ADJUSTMENTS</u>

Section 121.101(3), Fla. Stat.(1997), provides that in-lineof-duty disability benefits must be increased by a factor of 3%, compounded annually, on July 1 of each year. Notwithstanding this Court's holding in <u>Acker</u>, Petitioners respectfully submit that these cost-of-living adjustments must be included within the cap on benefits mandated by §440.20(15).

The operative question under §440.20(15) is whether such increased benefits are "employer-provided" benefits. If they are, then they are subject to the cap. Clearly, these are benefits provided by the employer. If the in-of-line-of-duty disability benefits themselves are "employer-provided" benefits, then the cost-of-living adjustments mandated by §121,101(3) are no less so. They should be included within the cap.

This Court's <u>Acker</u> decision does not compel a different conclusion. Section 440.15(1)(e), the statutory provision at issue in <u>Acker</u>, contains its own internal "cap" which limits the combination of permanent total and permanent total supplemental benefits to no more than 100% of the <u>statewide</u> average weekly wage. Section 121.101(3), on the other hand, contains no such internal cap. Therefore, there is no reason why these benefits should not be subject to the 100% cap mandated by this Court's construction of §440.20(15). <u>Brown v. S.S. Kresge Company</u>, 305 So.2d 191 (Fla. 1974); <u>Barragan v. City of Miami</u>, 545 So.2d 252 (Fla. 1989); <u>Escambia County Sheriff's Department v. Grice</u>, 692 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1997).

### C. <u>SOCIAL SECURITY COST-OF-LIVING ADJUSTMENTS</u>

When it takes an offset under 42 U.S.C. §424a, the Social Security Administration has determined that it must "recalculate" the social security benefits owing to the claimant with each subsequent cost-of-living increase in the state workers' compensation benefit. Any other method would result in the claimant receiving more than 80% of his ACE - a direct contravention of Congressional intent. This Court should follow the same reasoning when considering the cap on benefits mandated by §440.20(15).

In SSR 82-68, the Social Security Administration specifically addressed the question of whether social security disability benefits could be <u>further</u> reduced after calculation of the <u>initial</u> offset because of an <u>increase</u> in a claimant's workers' compensation benefits. The Administration began its ruling by noting that costof-living adjustments to social security disability benefits are not subject to the general rule limiting combined benefits to 80% of the average current earnings:

> Clauses (7) and (8) of section 224(a) of the Act provide a specific exception to that provision. They allow Social Security benefit increases to be passed on to the beneficiary by precluding any subsequent monthly offset from reducing the Social Security benefit below the sum of the reduced benefit for the first month of offset and any subsequent increases in Social Security benefits.

SSR 82-68, ¶4.

The Social Security Administration then noted, however, that "there is <u>no</u> corresponding provision which would allow increases in the public disability [workers' compensation] benefit to be passed on to the beneficiary." (Emphasis added.) SSR 82-68. They then went on to rule:

> Section 224 of the Act or section 404.408(a) of the regulations, thus, does not authorize limiting offset to the first monthly amount of public disability benefits. In fact, the legislative purpose... is clearly contrary to that result. To apply offset on the basis of the first such award, reducing the excess over the 80 percent limitation, and then not readjusting on the basis of a later, increased award, would result in combined benefits that could substantially exceed the 80 percent limitation set forth in section 224(a)(1-6). The resulting payment of combined benefits in of predisability earnings excess was specifically disapproved in the original legislative history of the offset provision and has been subsequently reaffirmed by Congress. (Emphasis added).

SSR 82-68, ¶6.

The Social Security Administration further went on to hold:

All increases in public disability [workers' compensation] benefit after offset is first considered or imposed should be considered in the computation of the DIB [disability insurance benefit] reduction and will result in the imposition of an additional offset where appropriate....<u>Each subsequent increase in the public disability [workers' compensation] benefit after offset is imposed may result in a further reduction of Federal disability benefits. (Emphasis added).</u>

SSR 82-68, ¶¶8-9.

Also see 20 CFR §404.408(k) and the example contained therein. Therefore, because the Social Security Administration has now concluded that cost-of-living adjustments to workers' compensation benefits must be taken into account in computing its offset, the courts of this state should likewise take such increases in social security benefits into account in calculating the amount of workers' compensation benefits owed.

# II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO APPLY \$440.20(15) AND THIS COURT'S <u>GRICE</u> DECISION TO WORKERS' COMPENSATION BENEFITS OWED BUT UNPAID SINCE AUGUST 1, 1989

In its original opinion dated July 19, 1999, the district court declined to apply §440.20(15) and this Court's <u>Grice</u> decision "retroactively to August 1, 1989" because "the effect of this new application [<u>Grice</u>] is to reduce claimant's benefits . . . ." 23 Fla.L.Weekly at D1750. Although the district court indicated that the §440.20(15) cap could <u>not</u> be applied "retroactively to August 1, 1989," the court did not initially indicate when the cap <u>could</u> be applied. On motion for clarification, however, the district court held that the §440.20(15) cap could be applied only to benefits "paid on or after May 1, 1997, the date the <u>Grice</u> decision was released by the Florida Supreme Court." 24 Fla.L.Weekly at D2368. In this, Petitioners respectfully submit, the district court also erred.

#### A. JURISDICTION

This case is before the Court pursuant to a question certified by the district court as one of great public importance. Art. V, §3(b)(4), Fla.Const. Although the issue concerning the retroactive application of <u>Grice</u> was not certified by the district court, it is clear that once this Court has jurisdiction it may, at its

discretion, consider any issue affecting the case. <u>Cantor v.</u> <u>Davis</u>, 489 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1986); <u>Jacobson v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 1282 (Fla. 1985); <u>Savoie v. State</u>, 422 So.2d 308 (Fla. 1982). In addition, as discussed below, the district court's resolution of this issue conflicts with several previous decisions of this Court, to wit: <u>City of Miami v. Bell</u>, 634 So.2d 163 (Fla. 1994); <u>Melendez</u> <u>v. Dreis & Krump Manufacting Company</u>, 515 So.2d 735 (Fla. 1987); <u>Florida Forest and Park Service v. Strickland</u>, 18 So.2d 251 (Fla. 1944). Accordingly, this Court should exercise its jurisdiction and reverse the district court on this point.

### B. <u>RETROSPECTIVE APPLICATION OF JUDICAL DECISIONS</u>

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