IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HRS DISTRICT II AND ALEXSIS RISK MANAGEMENT

Petitioners

vs.

Case Number: 96,801

ANN L. PICKARD

Respondent

ON PETITION TO REVIEW A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

/

AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, ANN L. PICKARD

> R. Jeremy Solomon Florida Bar Number 0251518 SOLOMON & PROCTOR Post Office Box 12879 Tallahassee, Florida 32317 850/385-6668

Attorney for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Pursuant to <u>City of Clearwater v. Acker</u>, [Fla.Sup.Ct.] No. SC93800, Dec. 9, 1999, no post injury cost-of-living increases to collateral benefits should be included in the employer/carrier's calculation of its <u>Grice</u> offset. To do so would constitute a further judicial expansion of Section 440.20(15), Fla. Stat., an ambiguous statute, which would render 42 U.S.C., Section 424a, and Section 121.101(3), Fla. Stat., providing for cost-of-living adjustments to Social Security disability insurance benefits and State Retirement benefits, respectively, meaningless.

Similarly, to include in its calculation of offset, supplemental benefits accruing subsequent to the date of accident, at which time the claimant's average weekly wage (AWW) is frozen, would contravene clear legislative intent as expressed in Section 440.15(1)(e)(1), Fla. Stat.

The District Court's reliance on <u>City of Miami v. Bell</u>, 634 So.2d 163 (Fla. 1994), in refusing to apply the 100 percent AWW cap retroactively to August 1, 1989, is correct.

ARGUMENT

A. JURISDICTION

Respondent joins petitioners in their argument that the Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction on these issues.

> I. The District Court correctly refused to include any of the cost-of-living adjustments to Ms. Pickard's Social Security or in-lineof-duty disability benefits in the <u>Grice</u> offset calculations subsequent to August 1, 1989.

The petitioners argue that their delay in accepting the claimant as PTD should now result in their being able to reduce retroactively their obligation to pay benefits by including in their offset computation, all collateral cost-of-living increases payable to the claimant since August 1, 1989, the date petitioners should have accepted the claimant as PTD.

Petitioners argue that cost-of-living adjustments to Ms. Pickard's collateral benefits should continue to be used to annually recalculate workers' compensation reductions in payments, despite the fact that such inflation adjustments are prescribed by statute.

As will be discussed *infra*, this position is untenable under this Courts's decision in <u>Acker</u>. (See <u>City of Clearwater v. Acker</u>, [Fla.Sup.Ct.] No. 93800, Dec. 9, 1999).

Section 121.101(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1997), provides that

in-line-of-duty disability (ILOD) benefits must be increased by a factor of three percent compounded annually on July 1 of each year. Petitioners argue that these cost-of-living adjustments should be included within the cap mandated by Section 440.20(15). They argue that the so-called "operative question" under 440.20(15) is whether such increased benefits are employer-provided benefits. Clearly, after Acker, the fact that the benefits received can be characterized as "employer-provided" is not dispositive. What was clearly stated by this Court in <u>Acker</u> is that the cap imposed under Section 440.20(15) is the result of "a judicial interpretation of an ambiguous statute" and the effect of that statute should not be expanded through judicial interpretation if such interpretation would render another clearly worded statute meaningless. The Florida Retirement System statute providing for cost-of-living adjustments is certainly clearly worded.

Florida Statutes, Section 121.101(3), provides:

- (1) The purpose of this section is to provide costof-living adjustment to the monthly benefits payable to all retired members of statesupported retirement systems...
- (2) Commencing July 1, 1987, the benefit of each retiree and annuitant shall be adjusted on each July 1 thereafter, as follows...
- (3) For those retirees and annuitants who have received a cost-of-living adjustment under this section, the adjusted monthly benefit shall be the amount of the monthly benefit being received on June 30 immediately preceding the adjustment

date plus an amount equal to 3 percent of the benefit.

Therefore, in order to harmonize Section 121.101(3), Florida Statutes (1997), with the <u>Grice</u> holding, ILOD COLAs should be held outside the ambit of Section 440.20(15). An amicus brief filed with the First DCA by the State of Florida, Division of Retirement, supporting this position, is attached as Exhibit 1 to the Appendix.

The First DCA has had opportunity to treat the issue of accident cost-of-living whether post-date of increases to collateral benefits may be offset against workers' compensation benefits. The First DCA declared in Herney that the rationale behind the decisions in Acker and its decision in Alderman, now affirmed by this Court, that an offset could not be recalculated to take into account increases in PT supplemental benefits, was consistent with their conclusion that no post-injury cost-of-living increases to collateral benefits may be offset against workers' compensation benefits. The State of Florida and the Department of Insurance, Division of Risk Management v. Herney, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2467b (Fla. 1st DCA October 19, 1999); Florida Plastering v. Alderman, [Fla.Sup.Ct.] No. 94511, Jan. 20, 2000.

In <u>Herney</u>, the First DCA affirmed the decision of the Judge of Compensation Claims limiting offsets for disability retirement and Social Security disability benefits received by the claimant to the amount initially received, without any consideration of cost-ofliving increases. See also, <u>Hunter v. South Florida Sod</u>, 666 So.2d 1018 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) (cost-of-living increases to Social Security disability benefits accruing after the date of the industrial accident cannot be included in the offset calculation.)

The <u>Herney</u> Court certified the following question as one of great public importance:

WHEN CALCULATING THE OFFSETS FOR SOCIAL SECURITY DISABILITY AND DISABILITY RETIREMENT BENEFITS PURSUANT TO <u>ESCAMBIA COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT V. GRICE</u>, 692 SO.2D 896 (FLA. 1997), IS THE EMPLOYER ENTITLED TO INCLUDE COST-OF-LIVING INCREASES TO THOSE BENEFITS?

The petitioners argue separately the Social Security disability insurance benefit cost-of-living increases should be offset under <u>Grice</u>. Petitioners' argument is entirely based on an analysis of Social Security Ruling 82-68, which petitioners assert by analogy provides a basis for a workers' compensation reduction on account of a claimant's receipt of Social Security cost-ofliving increases.

Initially, the respondent would note that there is a long line of established authority which holds that Social Security cost-ofliving allowances are not to be included when calculating offsets. See <u>Great Atlantic & Pacific Tea Company v. Wood</u>, 380 So.2d 558 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980); <u>Eques v. Best Knit Textile Corporation</u>, 382 So.2d 736 (Fla 1st DCA 1980); LaFond v. Pinellas County Board of Commissioners, 379 So.2d 1023 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980); A.C. Scott Construction and Paving Company v. Miller, I.R.C. Order 2-3906 (Sept. 11, 1970). In addition, these cases have recently been affirmed and expanded upon in Cruse, Hunt, Acker, Alderman, Wood, and Johns, in which the Court held that Social Security cost-ofliving allowances should not be included in calculating the initial offset and that no further recalculation is appropriate. In these decisions, the Court reasoned that "the cost of living increases actually reflect the diminution of the value of the dollar and the fact that the claimant's average weekly wage may not ... adequately or accurately reflect a basis upon which to determine and pay workers' compensation or Social Security benefits." Wood, at 559. While some of these cases involved the interpretation of Section 440.15(9), the above-noted reasoning and policy decisions are equally applicable or relevant to a Section 440.20(15) analysis. In turn, the Social Security cost of living increases should not be included at any time in the calculation of offsets.

In addition to the authority set forth above, respondent would observe that the petitioners' reliance on the Social Security Ruling 82-68 is inapposite.

It appears that the petitioners are arguing that because the Social Security Administration will reduce its benefits payable to a Social Security beneficiary after calculation of its initial reduction because of an increase in workers' compensation benefits, the Florida workers' compensation carrier should do the same.

In making such an argument, the petitioners fail to observe that the Social Security disability insurance benefit program and the Florida workers' compensation permanent total disability benefits scheme are **complementary programs**.

In Social Security parlance, Florida is what is known as a When a claimant receives concurrent "reverse offset" state. compensation from the Florida workers' compensation carrier and disability insurance benefits (DIB) from the Social Security Administration (SSA), the workers' compensation carrier is entitled to reduce its payment to a claimant because the claimant is receiving DIB from the SSA. 42 U.S.C. Section 424a(d); 20 C.F.R. Section 404.408(b)(1)(1995). Only 12 states have provisions for reduction of workers' compensation benefits when a claimant is concurrently receiving DIB. In the remaining states, the SSA will reduce its payment on account of the claimant's receipt of workers' compensation payments, which are referred to as planned disability benefits (PDB) in the Social Security Act. Both the Social Security law and Chapter 440 have complementary provisions providing for Federal recognition of the reduction allowed to the workers' compensation carrier. Because the Federal government will

recognize Florida's "reverse offset" by allowing a reduction by the workers' compensation carrier, the Social Security Administration will not concurrently reduce its payment of DIB to the Florida claimant. (SSA, Office of Policy, Program Operations Manual System (POMS), Chapter 520, Workers' Compensation/Public Disability Benefit Offset.) However, with regard to the State of Florida ILOD benefits, payable to a Social Security disability insurance claimant, there is no similar compact. Contrary to petitioners' implication in the first sentence on page 13 of their brief where petitioners alter the language of the ruling by inserting the words "[workers' compensation]" between the words "public disability" and "benefit," Social Security Ruling 82-68 is not applicable to the Florida workers' compensation scheme. That Ruling explains how the Social Security Administration will offset benefits payable where the beneficiary receives an increase in a planned disability benefit which, in this case, would be State of Florida ILOD benefits. Thus, the State of Florida, Division of Retirement, pays benefits under a complementary statute. (See Florida Statutes supplemental 121.101(7)(b) providing that cost-of-living adjustments to the disability retiree's benefit shall not be paid if the claimant is also receiving Social Security insurance benefits). Therefore, when a claimant receives ILOD benefits in Florida, the SSA has the right to reduce its payment to the inline-of-duty (ILOD) claimant subject to the same guidelines which would have been applicable to the receipt of WC benefits were Florida not a "reverse offset" state. POMS 52001.035C.1. In other words, pursuant to 42 U.S.C., Section 424a, the SSA will reduce its disability payments for the claimant's receipt of a planned disability benefit (PDB) which, in this case, is the State ILOD disability benefit. (See SSR 86-6A attached). Therefore, the Social Security Administration can reduce Federal disability benefits on account of increases received by an ILOD beneficiary for cost-of-living adjustments. On the other hand, the cited Florida Statute 121.101(7)(b) trumps the Social Security reduction by eliminating ILOD cost-of-living increases for Social Security beneficiaries. Contrary to what the petitioners would have the Court believe by inserting the words "workers' compensation" in brackets in Social Security Ruling 82-68, that Ruling does not apply to workers' compensation benefits in Florida. Moreover, to the extent the cited statute and SSA ruling clearly refer to treatment of COLAs by each payor, petitioners' citation to SSR 82-68 is supportive of respondent's position that COLAs in these programs do not give rise to workers' compensation reductions.

II. The First DCA errs where it directs the JCC to allow the petitioners to include in their "initial calculation" supplemental benefits payable in 1989.

The <u>Hunt v. Stratton</u> case, relied upon by the First DCA, sets forth a judicially created formula for calculating the workers' compensation offset. That case, however, did not specifically address the issue of supplemental benefits accruing prior to "initial calculation." Inasmuch as claimant's compensation rate is frozen as of the date of accident, any reduction taken by the carrier on account of accrued supplemental benefits payable, since a date of accident, contravenes legislative intent to provide inflation protection as expressed in Section 440.15(1)(e)(1), Florida Statutes (1985). This principle was extensively discussed by this Court in <u>Acker</u>. However, the specific issue of supplemental benefits and COLAs accruing prior to the date the claimant is accepted as PTD was not before the Court as it is now.

The principle of judicial construction set forth in <u>Acker</u>, that further expansion of the 100 percent cap would not be favored if it would render another statute meaningless, applies equally to cost-of-living increases accruing prior to the effective date of permanent total disability.

In this case, where the "initial calculation" is not made until 10 years after the date of accident, imposing a rule that supplemental benefits accruing prior to the date of initial calculation are subject to offset, would deprive Ms. Pickard of an additional 50 percent of her weekly compensation rate, as opposed to the benefits which should have been payable to her had the carrier timely accepted her as permanently and totally disabled. As a practical consideration, failing to preserve the claimant's right to receive all of her supplemental benefits based upon an arbitrary date of "initial calculation" would provide a strong disincentive to the carrier to timely provide the PTD benefits that the claimant is entitled to under the Workers' Compensation Act. Respondent asks the Court to take note of the fact that the claimant's compensation rate is two-thirds of average weekly wage prior to injury. (Fla. Stat. 440.15(1)(a)). In-line-of-duty retirement paid by the State of Florida is at least 42 percent of annual salary. (Fla. Stat. 121.091(4)(f)(1)). For this reason, where a claimant is determined to be permanently and totally disabled from an on-the-job injury, the combination of the workers' compensation benefit and the state in-line-of-duty disability benefit will ordinarily exceed 100 percent of average weekly wage and will require application of the Grice cap without consideration of supplemental benefits. Respondent, therefore, asks the Court to reverse the District Court's decision that supplemental benefits accruing prior to August 1, 1989, are subject to offset.

III. The District Court correctly refused to allow retroactive offsets of workers' compensation benefits owed but unpaid since August 1, 1989, until the issuance of the <u>Grice</u> decision on May 1, 1997.

Respondent concurs with the DCA's holding below that no <u>Grice</u> offset is permissible prior to the issuance of <u>Grice</u> on May 1, 1997.

The employer/carrier had conceded that the <u>Grice</u> case was one of first impression and that Section 440.20(15) had not previously applied the 100 percent AWW cap to the combination of Social Security, State disability retirement, and workers' compensation benefits. The DCA reasoned that <u>Grice</u>, having not applied an offset of workers' compensation benefits until that offset was initially asserted in June 1993, despite the fact that the claimant had previously been receiving all three types of benefits, did not provide authority for retroactive offset.

Petitioners assert that Section 440.20(15) as interpreted in <u>Grice</u> should be applied retroactively to workers' compensation benefits owed but unpaid since August 1, 1989. They maintain that the case at bar is distinguishable from <u>City of Miami v. Bell</u>, 634 So.2d 163 (Fla. 1994), relied upon by the Court below in refusing to retroactively apply the Grice offset. They argue that the <u>Grice</u> decision did not alter the parties' vested rights because no prior decision had ever interpreted Section 440.20(15) in such a manner as to allow the combination of Social Security, ILOD, and workers' compensation to **exceed** 100 percent of average weekly wage. Petitioners contend that because no prior judicial decision so construed Section 440.20(15), the retroactive application of <u>Grice</u> could not affect any vested contract rights.

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